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Defendant Darlene Crabtree submits this Memorandum in Support of her Motion to Dismiss
the indictment.

. INTRODUCTION

A political contribution is not obviously a*“charitable gift.” At least not so obviously that a
criminal prohibition against making a “charitable gift” would necessarily put someone on notice that
apolitical contribution was aso prohibited. The terms simply don’t mean the same thing in common
parlance. And, when laws carry criminal punishment, our courts require that the government state
those laws clearly enough so that people who know common parlance have advance warning about
what precisely isillegal.

Y et the indictment against Ms. Crabtree assumes someone directed not to make a“charitable
gift” would understand that term to be a prohibition against making a political contribution. That is
simply not the case. The indictment should be dismissed because it does not allege a crime — and
because any conviction allowed under it would be unconstitutional.

. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Darlene Crabtree is amember of the Coyote Valley Band of the Pomo Indian Tribe, which
operates a Casino in Mendocino County under afederal gaming ordinance.® She served as Secretary
for the Tribal Council, its governing body. Her dutiesincluded recording minutes of Council
meetings and she was one of seven Tribe members authorized to sign checks for the Tribe's expenses
(from the Tribe's account) and for Casino expenses (from the Casino’ s account).

Ms. Crabtree is charged with willfully misapplying money from her Tribe's Casino account in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1167(b) and conspiracy in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.% Itisalleged that
she co-signed two checks from the Casino account to two political campaign organizations — for a
total of $8,800. In particular, the government alleges that, on or about August 23, 2002, Ms. Crabtree

signed a $5,000 check drawn on the Casino’s general account payable to “[State Politician A]

! The ordinance was approved by the Chairman of the National Indian Gaming Commission
(“NIGC") on February 15, 1995, and amended on September 24, 2001.

? Section 1167(b) penalizes anyone who “willfully misapplies.. . . any money . . . in excess of $1,000
belonging to a gaming establishment operated by or for or licensed by an Indian tribe.”
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Committee.” Superseding Indictment, at 128. It further alleges that, on or about March 17, 2004, she
signed a $3,800 check drawn on the Casino’s general account payable to “[State Politician D] 2004.”
Supersed. Indict., at §28. Thereisno allegation that she got any personal — financial or other —
benefit from that money.

This amounts to “willful misapplication,” the indictment alleges, because it violates a
Settlement Agreement the NIGC made with the Tribe on May 18, 2001, a copy of which is attached
as Exhibit A (the “Agreement”). One of the things the Agreement did was to specify what payments
the Tribe could make from its gaming revenues (i.e., the Casino account) and what paymentsit would
have to make from its general account (that is, after net gaming revenues passed from the Casino to
the Tribe). The Agreement specifies that “charitable gifts” would come not from the Casino Account
but from the Tribe's general account. The Agreement does not expressly prohibit the making of
“political contributions” from the Casino account.

1.  ARGUMENT

The court should dismiss the indictment against Ms. Crabtree because; (1) a political
contribution is not a*“charitable gift” and (2) construing the term “charitable gift” to include a
“political contribution” would make the term too vague to support criminal prosecution and
contravene well-settled principles of statutory construction, all in violation of due process.®

A. Thelndictment Should Be Dismissed Because It Does Not Statea Crime

The indictment charges that Ms. Crabtree committed crimes when she co-signed two checks
for political contributions on behalf of the Tribe. The crime — willful misapplication of tribal
funds — supposedly stems from the fact that the checks were drawn on the Tribe's Casino account
and not on its general account. But on the face of the indictment it is clear that there was no
misapplication.

The Agreement makes clear that the Tribe can’t make “ charitable gifts’ from the Casino

account. Specifically, Section 17 of the Agreement prohibits “charitable gifts’ from being drawn

% Count 18, the conspiracy count, should be dismissed once the underlying substantive counts (counts
22 and 25 are, and for the same reasons.
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from the Casino account. There' s no allegation, though, that the Agreement prohibits the writing of
checks for “political contributions” from the Casino account — after all, that’s a commonly
recognized term the parties to the Agreement could have used if that’s what was meant. A review of
the Agreement shows that there is no express prohibition of political contributionsin that section.
The indictment, however, clearly alleges that the checks Ms. Crabtree alegedly signed were made
out to “[State Politician A] Committee” and to “[State Politician D] 2004.” Superseding Indictment,
1128(d), 28(i) These are payments to political and campaign organizations not to charities; in other
words, they are “political contributions’ not “charitable gifts’ or any other kind of “gift” for that
matter. Those payments are not prohibited by the Agreement. The issuance of the two checks, then,
did not violate the Agreement and could not have been awillful misapplication of money in violation

of section 1167. The indictment should be dismissed.

B. A Construction of the Law That Would Allow a Conviction Here Would Violate
Due Process

No one could have known that a prohibition of “charitable gifts’ from the Casino account aso
prohibited checks for political contributions from that account. Any construction of the law that

leads to criminal punishment for that would be unconstitutional and unfair.

1 A Person of Ordinary Intelligence Would Not Know That a Law
Prohibiting “ Charitable Contributions’ Also Prohibits“ Political
Contributions’

Were the Court to stretch the term “charitable gifts’ to cover the making of political
contributions, the law under which the government seeks to convict Ms. Crabtree would become
unconstitutionally vague. That is because, in violation of due process, she would have been “left
guessing about what is prohibited and what is not.” Free Speech Coalition v. Reno, 198 F.3d 1083,
1095 (9th Cir. 1999).

In Grayned v. Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108 (1972), the Supreme Court held that criminal laws
must “give the person of ordinary intelligence a reasonable opportunity to know what is prohibited,
so that he may act accordingly.” Thislong-settled “ constitutional requirement of definiteness’
reflects the “underlying principleis that no man should be held criminally responsible for conduct

which he could not reasonably understand to be proscribed.” Bouie v. Columbia, 378 U.S. 347, 351

DEF.’SMEM. OF P. & A. IN SUPP. OF MOT. TO DISMISS 3

CASE NO. CR 06-0565 Sl
wc-133658




© 00 N o o b~ w N PP

N N DN DN DN NN NN R R P R R R R R R
® N o R W N RBP O © N o UM W N B O

Case 3:06-cr-00565-SI  Document 143  Filed 10/02/2007 Page 5 of 7

(1964)(quotations omitted). The terms of the Agreement prohibiting “ charitable gifts” would not
have put Ms. Crabtree on notice that she should not sign checks for political contributions from the
Casino account.

Asthe Ninth Circuit has stated, the government may not impose punishment “on the basis of
an unexpected and unusual interpretation of plain language.” Connor v. Sakai, 15 F.3d 1463, 1469
(9th Cir. 1993), vacated in part and amended, 61 F.3d 751 (9th Cir. 1995). The terms ‘charitable
gift’ and ‘political contribution’ certainly are not used interchangeably in common parlance. For
example, in arecent New York Times article, Senator Hillary Clinton’s campaign is quoted as stating
it will take certain political contributions made by a donor who was charged with fraud and give them
to charity.* We submit that construing “charitable gifts’ to mean “political contributions’ — talk
about an “unexpected and unusual interpretation — would essentially conflate politics and charity
and tax an intelligent layperson’ s understanding of what each of those thingsis.

Convicting someone who makes a“ political contribution” under alaw that prohibits a

“charitable contribution” would violate due process. The Court should dismiss the indictment.”

2. Construing the Term “ Charitable Gifts’ to Cover Palitical Contributions
Runs Counter to Well-Settled Principles of Statutory Construction

Courts avoid the prohibited “unexpected and unusual interpretation” of criminal lawsin part

by using long-established rules of statutory construction themselves rooted in common sense.
a. The Rule of Lenity Prevents Conviction

Therule of lenity isatool of statutory construction that is “rooted in the fundamental
principles of due process.” Dunnv. U.S, 442 U.S. 100, 112 (1979). The hoary guiding principleis
that “courts must decline to impose punishment for actions that are not ‘ plainly and unmistakably’
proscribed.” 1d. at 113 (quoting United States v. Gradwell, 243 U.S. 476, 485 (1917)). Under this
doctrine, questions about the meaning or scope of termsin acriminal statute are resolved in favor of

lenity. Id. In United Satesv. Apex Oil, Inc., 132 F.3d 1287 (9th Cir.1997), the Ninth Circuit upheld

> United States v. Mayer, 2007 U.S. App. LEXIS 22155 (9th Cir. 2007)(“ Of course, an indictment
sought under a statute that is unconstitutional on its face or as applied will . . . be dismissed.”).
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the dismissal of one count of an indictment under the rule of lenity due to ambiguity in a Coast Guard
regulation. The Court held that “it was incumbent on [the government] to draw the line ‘in language
that the common world will understand.”” 1d. at 1291 (quoting McBoyle v. United Sates, 283 U.S.
25, 27 (1931).

As argued above, the intelligent layperson does not commonly understand the term
“charitable gift” to include contributions to political campaigns. One does not “plainly and
unmistakably” cover the other. The obvious, common-sense difference between the termsis even
reflected in more technical areas, such as the tax laws. On the one hand, “[o]rganizations described

in section 501(c)(3) are commonly referred to as charitable organizations.”®

Political organizations,
on the other hand, are classified under a different section of the Internal Revenue Code, section 527.”
Indeed, not only are charitable organizations and political campaign organizations classified under
different sections of the Tax Code, “charitable organizations’ are strictly proscribed from
participating in any activities related to elections.® The term “charitable gift” does not
unambiguously include political contributions. Therefore, under the rule of lenity, the Court should

accept the construction of “charitable gifts’ that does not punish political contributions.

b. Criminal Laws Must Be Interpreted in Ways That Avoid, Not
Invite, Constitutional Difficulties

Construing “charitable gifts’ to cover “political contributions’ in order to convict
Ms. Crabtree would a'so run afoul of another statutory construction rule. In Boosv. Barry, 485 U.S.
312, 351 (1988), the Supreme Court reiterated the rule that “federa courts have the duty to avoid
constitutional difficulties by doing so if such a construction isfairly possible.” Thisis based on the
courts’ “power to adopt narrowing constructions of federal legislation.” 1d. Construction of the
misapplication statute to criminalize what are clearly political contributions raises multiple

constitutional issues, whether under Due Process or First Amendment principles. This Court has the

726 U.S.C.527.
® Internal Revenue Service Ruling 2007-41.
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authority and a mandate to adopt an alternative construction, that “charitable gifts” does not include
“political contributions,” because it comports with common parlance and is“fairly possible” under
the circumstances of this case.
IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should dismiss the three countsin the indictment

charging Darlene Crabtree of misapplication of funds and conspiracy to misapply funds.

Dated: October 2, 2007 EUGENE ILLOVSKY
PAUL J. TAIRA
MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP

By: /s Eugene Illovsky
Eugene lllovsky

Attorneys for Defendant
DARLENE CRABTREE
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Rational Indian Gaming Commission

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

INTRODUCTION

1. This agreement is cntcred into by and between the Coyote Valley Band of Pomo
Indians (Trbe) and the Chairman of the National Indian Gaming Commission
(NIGC) to resolve the Chairman’s concerns regarding the Tribe’s use of gaming
rrvenues.

2. An investigation by the Tribal Council and the NJGC revealed that some of the
Tribe’s gaming revenues were incorrectly used. The Tribe and the NIGC bave
determined that the deficiencies in the Casino’s accounting systems, internal controls
and policies and procedures have contributed 10 the impermissible use of gaming
revenues. The Tribe and the NIGC agree that resolving these matters by settlernent
agreement is 1 the parties” best mlerest.

RECITALS

3. Under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. 2701 et seq., the NIGC is
responsible for regulating Class Il gaming and ccriain aspects of Class 1Tl gaming on

Indian lands.

4. On November 7, 1994, the Band adoptcd an ordinance authorizing and regulating
gaming on the Coyote Valley Indian Reservation. The tribal ordinance was adopted
for the purpose of establishing gaming within the Reservation “in conformity with the
federal Indian Gaming Regulatory Act . . . and regulations promulgated thereunder.”

5. A revenue distribution plan, which governs the expenditures of the Band’s gaming
revenues, was adopted by the Band on November 7, 1994, and approved by the
United States Department of the Interior on Septcmber 19, 1995. That plan provides
that “[nJo Tribal Programs Account fupds shall be used 10 make payments to or on
bebalf of individual Tribal members, unless a specific program authorizing such
payment has been approved by the Tribal Council.” Further, the expenditures under
the plan must be incurred under a budget approved by the Tribal Council and General

Comnail.
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6.

10.

The term “net revenues” means ngSS revenues of an Indian gaming activity less
amounts paid out as, or paid for, prizes and total operating cxpenses, excluding
management fees. 25 U.S.C § 2703(9), 25 C.F.R. § 502.16.

Under IGRA and the Commission’s regulations, 25 US.C. § 2701(b}2)}B) and 25
CFR. § 522.4(b)(2), wribes are anthorized to use net gaming revenues for the
following purposes only:

a. to fund tribal government operations or programs;

b. to provide for the general welfare of the tribe and its members;
¢. to promote tribal economic development;

d. to dopate to charitable organizations; or

10 help fund operations of local govemnment agencies.

(1]
v

Tribal gaming operations must keep records “sufficient to establish the amount of
gross and net income, deductions and expenses, receipts and disbursements. ”
25 C.F.R.§571.7.

In 1997, the Coyote Valley Casino (Casino) issued American Express Corporate
Credit Cards to each member of the Tribal Council and to the General Manager.

The Tribal Council engaged in the following improper action with regard to casino
assets:

a. From 1997 until February of 2000, members of the Tribal Council used the
Casino-issued American Express Corporate Cards for personal expenditures such
as vacations and personal items such as gifls, clothing, wys, and automobile tires.

b. From 1997 until February of 2000, members of the fribal Council used the
Casino-issued American Fxpress Corporate Cards for expenditures that bad :

already been provided by the Casino through other means. For example, Tribal |

Council members received cash advances to cover travel expenses, yet charged |
the same cxpenses on the casino-issued charge card, effectively causing the -
Casino to pay twice for the same expenses. "

¢. From 1997 until Febmary of 2000, members of the Tribal Council unsed the
Casino-issued American Express Corporate Cards for tribal govemmental
busincss. For cxample, members of the Tribal Council traveled and charged
expenses to the Casino-issued credit card when, in fact, such travel was not for
casino business. If such travel was for tribal governmental purposes, the Tribal
Council members should have asked the tribal govemment to pay such cxpenses.
Allowing governmental expenses to be charged 10 the casino prevents the. tribal -
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government from having control and accountabihity over governmental expenses.
Such expenses may be paid by the tribal government through nct revenues for the
tribal casino if such expenses meet the requirements set for in 25 U.5.C. § 2701

(bY2)(B) and 25 C.F.R § 522.4 (b)(2).

11. From 1997 until February 2000, Tribal Council members incurred a minimum of
$150,000 for personal and/or improper credit card charges that were paid by the
Casino. As of March 30, 2001, the remaining balance still owed by the Tribal
Council members exceeded $95,000. Moreover, members of the Tribal Council
incurred a minimum of $10,272.95 in charges for tribal government business thal was
paid by the Casino.

12. The Casino accounting department and the Tribe lacked an effective system of
internal controls necessary to track gaming revenues. This allowed Casino assets to
be diverted before the assets were distributed according to the revenue distribution
plan, in violation of 25 U.S.C § 2703(9), 25 C.F.R. § 502.16.

13. Desiring to preserve their longstanding relationship, representatives of the parties-{o— - -
this Agreement have explored amicable methods of resolving the above referenced

concerns.

AGREEMENT

ACCORDINGLY, the parties agree as follow:

14. The Tribe and the Chairman have determined that deficiencies in the Tribe’s
accounting systems, internal controls and policies and procedures have contributed to
the improper uses of gaming revenues. Accordingly, the partics agree to the
following terms 1o remedy these deficiencies:

15. Independent_Tribal Gaming Commission. Within thirty days of the date of this
document, the Tribe shall submit an amended gaming ordinance to the Chairman of
the NIGC for his approval in order to strengthen the Casino’s Gaming Commission.
Such amended gaming ordinance (Ordinance) will reaffirm that the Commission is an
independent tribal Gaming Commission: The Fribels-cusrent-ordimance will-include -
the following concepts: '

a. The ‘Tribal Gaming Commission’s duty is to regulate tribal gaming operations.

b. The Tribal Gaming Commission serves as a regulatory, rather than managerial,
purpose. The Tribal Gaming Commission is empowered to conduct oversight to
ensure compliance with Federal, Tribat, and, if epplicable, state gaming laws and
regulations. The Tribal Gaming Commission serves as the licensing authority for
individuals employed in the gaming operation and administers an effective
program for background itvestigations as part of the licensing process. The
Tribal Gaming Commission monitors compliance with the immternal control
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standards for the gaming operation and the policies and procedures goveming
expenditare of gaming revenues. To carry out its regulatory dutics, the Tribal
Gaming Commission has unrestricted access to all areas of the gaming operation
and to all records. The Tribal Gaming Commission has clear authority to take
enforcement actions, including the authority to suspend or revoke an individual
gaming liccnse and may order the suspension or revocation of credit card or

purchase authority.

c. The Tribe recognizes the importance of the independence of the Tribal Gaming
Commission in maintaining a well-regulated gaming operation. Therefore, the
Tribal Gaming Commission has been empowered to act independently and
autonomously from the Tribal Council in all matters within its purview. No prior
or subsequent review by the Tribal Council of any actions of the Tribal Gaming
Commission is required or permitted except as otherwise explicitly provided in

the Tribal Gaming Ordinance. :

d. The Tribe understands that the independence of the Tribal Gaming Commission is
essential to a well-regulated gaming operation.  The Tribal Gaming
Commissioners arc appointed for staggered terms of three years and may be
removed from office by the Tribal Council prior to the expiration of their
respective terms only for neglect of duty, misconduct, malfeasance, or other acts
that would render a commissioner unqualified for his/her position. Any
allegations of neglect of duty, misconduct, malfeasance, or other acts that would
render him or her unqualified for his/her position must be substantiatcd by a
preponderance of the evidence. A Commissioner shall be given a reasonable
opportunity to provide evidence rebutting the grounds for his or ber removal
before the removal is final. A wrongful removal shall entitle the affected
Commissioner to compensation for expenses incurred in an appeal and any pay

withheld.

16. Ordinance Requirements. The amcndment to the ordinance shall include the
following:

a. All members of the Tribal Gaming Commission shall attend 40 hours of
regulatory, gaming-rclated training each year.

b. For any non-budgeted expenditure by the Casino Board of Dircetors, Tribal
Council or Casino greater than $500, the Tribal Gaming Commission shall certify

that the expenditure constitutes a gaming operating expense.

c. To avoid potential contlicts of interest between the operation and regulation of the
Casino, the Tribe shall require that:

i. No member of the Tribal Council may serve on the Tribal Gaming
Commission.
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ii. Members of the Tribal Gaming Commission and the Board are prohibited
fromn gambling in the Casino.

%ii. Members of the Tribal Gaming Commission, Board, and Tribal Council
are prohibited from accepting complimentary items from the Casino.

iv. Emplayees of the Casino or any gaming enterprise on the reservation are
prohibited from serving on the Tribal Gaming Commission.

v. Persons who are not eligible to scrve as key employees or primary
management officials are prohibited from serving on the Tribal Gaming

Commission or Board.

vi. Tribal Gaming Commissioners shall be subjected to a background
investigation and deemed suitable by the Tribal Council before
appointment to the Tribal Gaming Commission.

vii. Tribal Gaming Commission employees shall be subjected to a background
investigation and deemed suitable by the Tribal Gaming Commission
before employment with the Tribal Gaming Commission.

17 Protection of Tribal Gaming Revenues. The Tribe recognizes the importance of
ensuring that the tribal government, rather than individual members or casino
cmployecs, determine the appropriate and Jawful use of tribal gaming revenues.
Accordingly, the Tribe has adopted polices that ensure the following:

a. No personal loans or advances shall be made to members of the Tribal
Council, the Board or the Tribal Gaming Commission from Casino assets.

b. Neither goods, nor services, nor equipment shall be provided to non-casino
employees out of Casino assets,

¢. Casino expenditures that do not benefit the gaming operation are prohibited.
Casino expenditures are authorized only if they are considered gaming
operating expenses in accordance with GAAP. Casino expenditures must be
made in accordance with good business practices. Casino expenditurcs made
for the benefit of individuals or the Tribe are prohibited.

d. No charitable gifts or other gifts shall be made by the Casino. This will not
prohibit, however, the marketing department from sponsoring promotions or
other budgeted marketing activities. If the Tribe wishes to make charitable
gifts, it may do so as a government in conformance with the approved uses of
net paming revenues, afier such revenues have moved from the gaming
operation to the Tribe.
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18. Casino Travel Expense Policy. The Tribe, through the Casino management, has
established and implemented a Casino travel expense policy. The Casino travel
expense policy and procedure provides the following:

a. Credit cards may be issued to gaming operation employees and gaming board
members only.

b. Travelers shall be reimbursed only for expenses incurred while iraveling on
Casino busincss. .

¢. Travel advances shall not be anthorized for eredit card holders.

d. Travelers shall be reimbursed only for legitimate and necessary travel
expenses. Legitimate and necessary trave) expenses include but arc not limited
to lodging, meals, vehicle rentals, and incidental expenses. Incidental
expenses include reimbursement for tips to wait staff, tips for transportation,
pressing and cleaning of laundry.

¢. Certam expenditures, including but not limited to, clothing, physical therapy,
expenses for spouses, children, significant others, and/or any other persons
accompanying the traveler, shall be prohibited.

f. All travel shall be pre-approved by a designated person in Casimo
management.

g. Travelers shall justify their claimed travel expenses hy providing rcceipts and
other supporting documentation to the Casino management.

h. Requests for travel reimbursement shall include a complete explanation of the
costs, the amount of the purchase, the dates the expenses were incurred, the
purpose of the expenditure, and receipts proving the expenditures.

i. The Casino may issue credit cards for employees or board members who will
be traveling on bebalf of the Casino. Each cardholder shall sign a contract
with the Casino acknowledging that he/she has received a copy of the Casino
travel expense policy and procedure and that he/she understands that he/she is
responsible for justifying all expenditures made and that all expenditures shall
be incurred and repaid in accordance with the Casino fravel expensc policy

and procedure.

j» All travel expenses shall he reconciled at the end of each month, and no
honoraria, per capita payments, of other payments shall be issued to the
responsible traveler if that person has an outstanding travel balance.
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k. Casino-issued credit cards shall be used for travel expenses only. Casino-
issued credit cards cannot be used for general or special purchases for the
Casino cxcept by the Casino’s specifically appointed purchasing agent.

l. A copy of the Casino travel expense policy shall be submitted to the NIGC
and Commission within thirty days of the datc of this document.

19, Auditing_and Accounting Systems. The Tribe shall improve and maintain its
acoounting systems and procedures that, at 2 minimum:

a. Include an adequate system of internal accounting controls;

b. Permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles; and

¢. Are susceptible to andit.

20. Internal Audit Department. The Tribe shall establish an internal audit department
that shall be responsible for establishing an audit plan with provisions ensuring:

a. all expenses submitted to the Casino as an expense are in accordance with the
Casino travel expense and purchasing policy;

b. no individual person receives duplicate travel or purchasing expenses;

c. all travel and purchasing expenditures are for Casino business and that the
Tribe is responsiblc for expenditures relating to tribal business;

d. all travel and purchases are documented; and

e. all pet gaming revenues are transferred to a tribal government account.

21. Internal Audit Report. An internal audit report shall be issued annually. A copy
of the report shall be submitted to NIGC and the Tribal Gaming Comrmsmon

concurrently with the annual audil report required by IGRA.

22. Expense Audit Report. The Casino shall continue to engage an independent CPA
firm to perform audits of all travel expense and good will and charitable
contributions made by the Casino. Such sudits shall be submitted to the Tribal

Gaming Commission and NIGC.

23. Repayment of Sums Owed. The Tribe has required any outstanding expenses
made by Tribal members 10 be repaid to the Casino in accordunce with the
promissory notes designated promissory notes “A” through “D” incorporated into
this agreement by reference. Each month, the Comptroller shall submit proof of
compliance with the agreement to the NIGC Region H Chief. That proof shall
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include copies of the monthly records of payments being made to the Tribe and 2
certification that the monthly payment records reflect the actual payments being
made pursuant to thc agreement and that identify the source of thc payments as
being made directly from the debtor or from the withholding of honoraria, per
capita payments or other sources. The Tribe has reimbursed the Casino the

$10,227.95 deemed as tribal operational expenscs.

24, The Tribe shall take immediate actiop in accordance with these terms and notify
the NIGC of the measures taken in accordance with these terms within 30 days of
the date of this document. The ordinance amendment shall be submitied to the
Chairman, National Indian Gaming Commission, 1441 L Street, NW, Suite 9100,
Washington, DC 20005. Al other required information shall be submitted to
Regional Chief, Region I, National Indian Gaming Commission, 501 I Street,
Suite 12400, Sacramento, Califorma, 95814.

25. The NIGC shall monitor compliance with this agreement. The Band shall comply
fully with the NIGC’s monitoring efforts and inform the gencral membership of

this agreement.

26. The parties agree that this seitlement will resolve all potential Commission
enforcement action related to improper use of Tribal casino credit cards from the
time period of January of 1997 until February 2000.

27. The parties agree to work in good faith to resolve any future disputes conceming
the Tribe’s gaming activities.

The Agreement entered this ]_8_&day of Ampgj 2001.

On behslf of the National Indian Gaming Commission:

Morntie R, Deer, Chairman

* k%

On behalf of the Coyote Valley Band of Pomo Indians

-

Priscilla Hunter, Chairwoman
Tribal Couneil
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PROMISSORY NOTE “A”

I, Michelle Campbell, the undersigned, jointly and severally promise ke pay to the order
of Coyore Valley Shodokai Casino, the sum of $10,914.96 Dollass, together with interest
thereon at the rate of B% per annum on any unpaid balance.

Said sum, inclusive of interest, shall bs paid in monhly installments of $500.00 each,
with 3 first payment due May 15, 2001, and a Jike amount on the same day of each month
thereafter until the full amount of thie nate and scerned interest shall be fully paid. All
paymens shall be first applied 10 accrued interest and the balance w principal.

The undersigned reserves the right to pre-pay this note in whole o in part withont
penalty. This note shall be fislly payable upon demand of any holder in the event the
undersigned shall default in making any payments duc under this note within 15 days of

i1s dus dats. In the event of any default, the undersigned agreed 1o pay all reesonable
altomney fees and costs of collection fo the extent permined by law. This note shajl take

cﬂ';ct a5 a scaled insnument and be enforeed in sccordance with the laws of the payee’s
Jjunsdiction.

The undersigned understands thay satisfaction of this note is & condition of the Sertiement
Agresment entered into between the Coyote Valley Band of Pemo Indians and the

Chairman of the National Indian Gaming Commission regarding the Tribe’s use of
gRMINg revenues.

Wiedlle (ian}ﬂﬁa_ﬁ/

Signamre

2-1-01

Date

Note: Thiz document may cortain information that is confidential under the provisions
of the Freedotn of Information Act and federal privacy lews.
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PROMISSORY NOTE “B”

L, Darlene Crabiree, the undersigned, jointly and severally promise to pay o the order of Coyote
Valley Shodokai Casino, the sum of $29,545.11 Dollars, together with inierest thereon st the rate

of 8% per aromum an any unpaid balance.

Said sum, nclusive of interest, shall be paid in monthly insizllments of $500.00 each;, with a first
payment due May 15, 200}, ang a like amount on the same day of each monih thereafter uani the
full amount of this note and accrued interest shall be fully paid. All payments shall be firsi
applied to accred interest and the balance 1o principal.

The undersigned reserves the nght to pre-pay this note in whole or in part without penalty, This
note shall be fully payable upon demand of any holder in the event the undersigned shall defanlt
in making any payments due inder this note within 15 days of its due date. . In the event of any
default, the undersigned agreed 10 pay all reasonable artorey fees and costs of collection 1o the
extent permitted by law. This note shall 1ake effect as a sealed msuument and be enforced in
accordance with the Jaws of the payee’s jurisdiction.

The undersigned understands that satisfaction of this noi is a condirion of the Sextlement
Agreement entered into betwesn the Coyote Valley Band of Pomo Indians and the Chaioman of
the National Indian Gaming Commission regarding the Tribe’s use of gaming revenucs.

ature of Darlepe Crabaee
[Noih~ 177 200 |
Daic I
5033040

15502/06974
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PROMISSORY NOTE “C”

1, Allan Crabtrec, the undersigned, jointly and severally promise to pay to the order of
Coyote Valley Shodokai Casino, the sum of $37,233.53 Dollars, together with interest
thereon at the rate of 8% per annum on any unpaid balance.

Said sum, inclusive of interest, shall be paid in monthly installments of $500.00 each,
wilh & first payment due May 15, 2001, and a like amount on the same day of cach month
theseafter until the full amount of this note and accrved interest shall be fully paid. All
payments shall be first applied to accrued interest and the balance to principal.

The undersigned reserves the nght to pre-pay this nots in whole or in part without
penalty. This note shall be fully payable opon demand of any hokicr in. the event the
undersigned shall defanit in making any payments due under this note within 15 days of
its due date. In the event of any defailt, the undersigned seveed to pay gl reasonable
attornoy fees and costs of collection to the extent permitted by law. This nota shall take
cffect as a sealed instrunient and be enforced in accordance with the laws of the payee's

jumsdiction. '
The undersigned understands that satisfaction of this nots is a condition of the Settlement
“Agrecment eptered ipto between the Coyole Valley Band of Pomo Indians and the

Chairman of the National Indian Gaming Commission rogarding the Tribe’s usc of
B3MIDG rovenuss. -

Signature e
S-/-0f
Date i

Note: This documént may contain informatjon that is confidential under th$ provisions
of the Freedom of Information At and federal privacy laws. :



Case 3:06-cr-00565-SI  Document 143-2 - .-Filed 10/02/2007  Page 13 of 13

PROMISSORY NOTE “D”

I, Deloris Vigil, the undersigned, jointly and severally promise to pay 1o the order of
Coyote Valley Shodokai Casino, the sum of $15,481.45 Dollars, together with interest
thereon at the rate of 8% per annwm on any unpaid balance.

3aid sum, inclusive of interest, shall be paid in monthly instaliments of $500.00 each,
with a first payment duc May 15, 2001, and 8 like amount on the ssme day of each month
thereafier until the full amount of this note and accryed interest shall be folly paid. All
payments shall be first applied to accrned interest and the balance to principal.

The undersigned reserves the right 1o pre-pay this note in whole or in part withont
penalty, This pote shall be fully payable npon demand of any holder in the event the
undersigned shall default in making any payments due under this note within 15 days of
its due dae. In the event of any defanlt, the undersigned agreed 10 pay all reasonable
attomey fees and costs of collection 1o the extent permitted by law., This note shall take
effect as a sealed instument and be enforced in accardance with the laws of the payee's

Jjurisdiction.

The undersigned understands that satisfaction of this note is a condition of the Setilement
Agreement entered Imo between the Coyote Valley Band of Pomo Indians and the
Chairman of the Nationa) Indian Gaming Commission regarding the Tribe’s use of

gaming revenyes.
Q
Signawmre

RYAITON)
I

Date

Note: This document may contain informetion that is confidential under the provisions
of the Freedom of Information Act and federal privacy laws.



